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WILLIS-PHIPPS BOUSE (ANGEL'S GROTTO) - 1867-1870 - 404 
York Road, Towson. Long narrow frame and brown shingled 
Italianate town house that was originally part of Willis 
Drug Store complex but was split off in 1920 by sale of 
house and its 15-foot wide lot to August C. Deichelman 
by Harry F. Phipps. It then served as Deichelman's dime 
store. Later called the 404 Lounge. Heavy cornice and 
bracketing survives on south side wall. False mansard 
roof added over saloon entrance in 1970s. Minor fire, 
September 14, 1981. 

DUNNING BOUSE, WEST (EDWIN B. TACK, INC.) - 1926 - 110 
East Pennsylvania Avenue, Towson. Vernacular style, 
two-story house, gambrel roof, covered with aluminum 
siding. Enclosed porch. Rock-faced concrete block 
foundation. Built 1926 by John M. Dunning along with 
adjacent corner house; replacement of Jones house in 
1898 atlas. Sold to George Kentros in 1936. Now office 
of plumbing firm. Brown brick veneer added summer of 
1979. Owner: Edwin B. Tack, Inc. 

DUNNING HOUSE, EAST 1926 112 East Pennsylvania 
Avenue, Towson. Brown frame and shingle house, two 
stories, with gambrel roof, vernacular style; enclosed 
porch; rock-faced concrete block foundation. Twin of 
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house to west (Tack's). Built 1926 by John M. Dunning, 
who demolished the Mitchell (later German) house shown 
here in 1898 atlas. Sold to G.S. Martin, Jr., in 1936. 
Owner: B. Carson Driggs. 
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